
 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

NORTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA 

 

Case No. 5:20-CR-28-MW/MJF 

 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

 

v. 

 

JAMES D. FINCH, 

 

Defendant. 

                                                           / 

 

DEFENDANT FINCH’S 

MOTION TO DISMISS COUNTS 3, 4, AND 5  

OF THE SUPERSEDING INDICTMENT OR, ALTERNATIVELY, 

MOTION FOR BILL OF PARTICULARS 

 

Defendant James D. Finch by and through undersigned counsel, moves to 

dismiss Counts 3, 4, and 5 of the Superseding Indictment pursuant to Federal Rule 

of Criminal Procedure 12 as the counts do not sufficiently allege legally cognizable 

claims of an “honest services fraud” violation against Finch.  As a result, the counts 

should be dismissed.    

I. Procedural Background 

On August 18, 2020, the Federal Grand Jury in Tallahassee returned the 

original, 64-count Indictment, charging Defendants Margo Anderson and Adam 

Albritton with wire fraud conspiracy to violate honest services and substantive 

counts of honest services wire fraud.  ECF No. 1. 
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On December 31, 2020, Counsel for Defendants Anderson and Albritton 

challenged much of the language in the Indictment, arguing confusion and 

inaccuracy.  ECF Nos. 48, 49, and 50.   Following a hearing, the Court ordered the 

government to “clean up” this initial Indictment, requiring amendments to factual 

allegations and corrections to multiplicitous counts.  The Court further dismissed 

two counts as insufficiently pled.  ECF No. 60.  

On March 16, 2021, the Grand Jury returned a 43-count Superseding 

Indictment adding Defendants James Finch and former Lynn Haven City 

Commissioner Antonius Barnes.  ECF No. 64.  Unfortunately, the Superseding 

Indictment incorporates much of the same confusing, legally flawed, inaccurate 

language from the initial Indictment.  In particular, and relevant to this Motion to 

Dismiss, the Superseding Indictment charged Finch and Barnes with six substantive 

wire fraud counts, Counts 2 – 5, for engaging in honest services fraud.1  

 

 

 
1 On April 23, 2021, Count 2 of the Superseding Indictment was dismissed for falling 

outside of the Statute of Limitations period.  ECF No. 121.  This motion is directed 

at the honest services counts involving only Finch and Barnes—Counts 3, 4, and 5. 
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Counts 3, 4, and 5 of Superseding Indictment attempt to charge three 

substantive violations of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1343, 1346, and 2.  The preamble of Counts 

3, 4, and 5 incorporates 124 allegations relating to the honest services conspiracy 

charged in Count 1.  Twelve of the incorporated allegations reference Barnes.2     

Despite this attempt to incorporate indiscriminately by reference, careful 

inspection of the Superseding Indictment reveals that it is devoid of sufficiently 

concrete, specific factual allegations of an illegal agreement between Finch and 

Barnes.  There are no express factual allegations indicating that Finch illegally paid 

Barnes an alleged bribe with an intent to influence Barnes to perform a specified 

official act in violation of the honest services statute.  There is no factual allegation 

that Barnes agreed to be influenced specifically by Finch or by anyone on Finch’s 

behalf in performance of Barnes’s official acts in exchange for anything of value. 

Notwithstanding the indiscriminate incorporations, the language of Counts 3, 

4, and 5 falls woefully short of legally charging a viable honest services violation.  

In the honest services context, the law requires the government to be more precise.  

According to a series of recent decisions of the United States Supreme Court, “close” 

is clearly not good enough.  For the reasons detailed below, Counts 3, 4, and 5 of the 

 
2 Confusingly, Counts 2 through 40 reallege and incorporate by reference paragraphs 

1 – 22 and 24 – 125 of Count 1.  See ECF No. 64.  Within the 124 paragraphs that 

are realleged and incorporated by reference into Counts 3, 4, and 5, only 12 

paragraphs reference Barnes.  These include paragraphs 5, 24, 27, 28, 67, 68, 74, 82, 

85, 120, 124, and 125.   
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Superseding Indictment must be dismissed.  

II. Standard of Review 

Rule 12(b) of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure provides defendants 

with the ability to challenge an indictment for defects, like failure to state a legally 

cognizable offense.  Fed. R. Crim. P. 12(b)(3)(B)(v).  District courts ruling on such 

pretrial motions must review “the face of the indictment and, more specifically, the 

language used to charge the crimes.”  United States v. Sharpe, 438 F.3d 1257, 1263 

(11th Cir. 2006) (emphasis in original).  A sufficient indictment must “contain[] the 

elements of the offense charged and fairly inform[] the defendant of the charge 

against which he must defend.”  Hamling v. United States, 418 U.S. 87, 117 (1974).  

“A grand jury indictment must set forth each essential element of an offense in order 

for a resulting conviction to stand.” United States v. Poirier, 321 F.3d 1024 (11th 

Cir. 2003) (emphasis added).  Accordingly, dismissal is appropriate “where there is 

an infirmity of law in the prosecution; a court may not dismiss an indictment, 

however, on a determination of facts that should have been developed at trial.” 

United States v. Torkington, 812 F.2d 1347, 1354 (11th Cir. 1987).  
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III. Evolution of the Honest Services Statute 

The only consistent theme in the Superseding Indictment is the full-sail 

reliance on the “honest services” statute,3 which makes it a crime to “deprive another 

of the intangible right of honest services.” 18 U.S.C. § 1346.  Application of the 

honest services statute, however, has been the subject of harsh criticism, ultra-strict 

construction, and limiting instructions by the United States Supreme Court for the 

last decade.  

 

 
3 Counts 2, 3 and 4 attempt to incorporate the “Manner and Means” section from 

Count 1—the broad, overarching conspiracy count alleging violations of 18 U.S.C. 

§§ 1343, 1346, and 1349.  The Manner and Means section covers a period of 66 

months and includes over 100 paragraphs.  It is broken down into 9 subheadings—

each containing different facts of the alleged “overall” conspiracy of honest services 

fraud.  Again, confusingly, each section involves a different set of facts, people, 

circumstances, and time frame.  Thematically, the charging language attempts to 

first describe a fraud associated with the post-hurricane clean up involving Erosion 

Control Specialist (“ECS”) that has nothing to do with Finch.  The Manner and 

Means section morphs and morphs and morphs yet again, ultimately attempting to 

criminalize Finch’s repeated complaints to the Lynn Haven political establishment 

about the high cost of proposed construction projects.   

 

For instance, the events alleged in paragraphs 29 through 54 involve a fraudulent 

billing scheme (ECS Trash Pick-Ups), making no mention of Finch or Barnes.  

Likewise, paragraphs 86 through 91 involve an alleged illegal insurance scheme 

(World Claim Insurance)—again, with no allegations against Finch or Barnes.  

Lastly, the newest conspiracy added to Count 1 of the Superseding Indictment (City 

of Lynn Haven Design & Rebuild), paragraphs 92 – 117, has no connection to the 

substantive fraud counts, Counts 2 – 40.  It is readily apparent that the new language 

is a virtual stream-of-conscious recitation attempting to criminalize Finch’s public 

complaints to a new Lynn Haven administration about the high costs of construction 

projects in Lynn Haven.   
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Criticism and strict construction are wholly justified considering the inherent 

ambiguity as to what constitutes an “intangible right of honest services.”  

Considering the statute’s vagueness, the high Court has repeatedly reversed 

convictions when the allegations are not precisely and carefully drawn.   

In this case, the allegations relating to Counts 3, 4, and 5 in the Superseding 

Indictment are vague and neither precisely nor carefully drawn and therefore simply 

do not comply with the law.  Further, they fail to inform Finch with particularity of 

the charges against which he must defend.  They likewise defy a jury instruction that 

sufficiently explains in simple, plain language what specific action is criminal and 

what specific conduct results in a crime. 

A.  McNally v. United States, 483 U.S. 350 (1987) 

Prior to the enactment of 18 U.S.C. § 1346, the Supreme Court held in 

McNally v. United States, 483 U.S. 350 (1987), that federal fraud statutes could not 

be used to criminalize behavior on the ambiguous standard of an intangible right to 

honest services.  The McNally Court held that any attempt to criminalize honest 

services fraud based on the general federal fraud statutes was unconstitutional.  

McNally also warned that allowing such a prosecution on vague standards would 

“involve[] the Federal Government in setting standards of disclosure and good 

government for local and state officials.”  Id. at 360.   

After McNally, Congress enacted 18 U.S.C. § 1346, attempting to salvage the 
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theory of “honest services fraud.”  Despite these modifications, however, the statute 

continues to suffer from repeated scrutiny by the Supreme Court, resulting in high 

Court reversals due to a host of constitutional legal infirmities. 

B. Skilling v. United States, 561 U.S. 358 (2010) 

After McNally and the enactment of 18 U.S.C. § 1346, the Supreme Court 

again rejected a broad honest services fraud theory of criminal liability in Skilling v. 

United States, 561 U.S. 358, 130 S. Ct. 2896 (2010).   

In Skilling, Jeffrey Skilling, the one-time CEO of Enron, was convicted of 

(among other things) wire fraud on the theory that he deprived the company and its 

shareholders of his honest services by manipulating financial results and making 

false and misleading statements about the company’s performance to “prop up 

Enron’s short-run stock prices.”   Id. at 368-69.  On appeal, the U.S. Court of Appeals 

for the Fifth Circuit upheld Skilling’s honest services fraud conviction, rejecting 

Skilling’s argument that his conduct could not fall within the meaning of § 1346 

because the conduct “was in the corporate interest and therefore was not self-

dealing.”  United States v. Skilling, 554 F.3d 529, 545 (5th Cir. 2019).  Skilling then 

argued to the Supreme Court that the honest services statute should be struck down 

as unconstitutionally vague.  Skilling, 561 U.S. at 402. 

The Supreme Court determined that the attempt in that case to criminalize the 

deprivation of an “intangible right of honest services” was still unconstitutional in 
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large measure.  Specifically, Skilling held that it would be unconstitutional to apply 

such a vague standard, which was advocated by the government.  Id. at 408. 

Skilling suggested that the statute should be applied rarely, if at all. In 

following the principle of judicial restraint, however, the Court construed the statute 

narrowly to apply only to “bribes and kickbacks.” Id. at 409; see also Black v. United 

States, 561 U.S. 465, 471 (2010) (“We decided in Skilling that § 1346, properly 

confined, criminalizes only schemes to defraud that involve bribes or kickbacks.”). 

Skilling also specifically excluded large categories of conduct from the scope 

of § 1346, including several of the very theories alleged and relied upon in this case.  

For example, here, there are allegations of self-dealing and failure to disclose 

conflicts of interest.  Even if we accept these allegations as true for purposes of this 

motion, Skilling concluded that self-dealing and conflicts of interest are not 

appropriate targets of an honest services prosecution.  Skilling, 561 U.S. at 410-11 

(rejecting the government’s request to include “the taking of official action by the 

employee that further his own undisclosed financial interests” within § 1346’s 

compass); see also id. (holding that honest services fraud does not encompass 

conduct wider ranging than the paradigmatic cases of bribes and kickbacks and 

declaring, “we resist the Government’s less constrained construction absent 

Congress’ clear instruction otherwise.”).   

In short, the Supreme Court’s decision in Skilling makes clear that honest 
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services mail or wire fraud must involve “offenders who, in violation of a fiduciary 

duty, participate[] in bribery or kickback schemes.” Id. at 407.  In light of this 

holding, Circuit and District Courts must consider the (1) vitality of the “limiting 

principles” adopted prior to Skilling, (2) source and scope of fiduciary duties, and 

(3) definition and application of the terms “bribery” and “kickbacks.” 

C. McDonnell v. United States, 136 S. Ct. 2355 (2016) 

In 2016, the Supreme Court yet again narrowed the application of the honest 

services statute.  In McDonnell v. United States, -- U.S. --, 136 S. Ct. 2355 (2016), 

the Court reviewed the honest services statute for vagueness. 

In McDonnell, the former Governor of Virginia, Bob McDonnell, began to 

accept gifts from a wealthy businessman who was courting McDonnell to help with 

his dietary supplement company.  Id. at 2361.  In short, McDonnell and his wife, 

Maureen, needed financial help and the businessman promised to alleviate their debt 

with loans and more.  In return, it was implied that McDonnell would help the 

businessman get FDA approval for his dietary supplement by trying to persuade 

Virginia public universities to do the necessary research so the company would not 

have to pay for it.  Id. at 2361-64.  In exchange, McDonnell and his wife received 

more than $175,000 in loans, shopping sprees, vacations, and other gifts from the 

businessman, who also even paid for McDonnell’s daughter’s wedding.  Id. 

Federal prosecutors indicted McDonnell on charges of honest services fraud 

Case 5:20-cr-00028-MW-MJF   Document 131   Filed 05/26/21   Page 9 of 25



Case No. 5:20-CR-28-MW/MJF 

10 

and Hobbs Act extortion because they believed that the businessman bribed 

McDonnell.  The parties stipulated that terms within both the honest services fraud 

and Hobbs Act extortion statutes would be defined by reference to a federal statute 

prohibiting bribery: 18 U.S.C. § 201.  McDonnell, 136 S. Ct. at 2365.  The jury 

convicted McDonnell on the honest services fraud and Hobbs Act extortion charges. 

Id. at 2366.   

Following the verdict, McDonnell moved to vacate his convictions on the 

ground that the jury instructions “were legally erroneous because they (i) allowed 

the jury to convict [him] on an erroneous understanding of ‘official act,’ and (ii) 

allowed a conviction on the theory that [he] accepted things of value that were given 

for future unspecified action.”  Id. at 2367.  In addition, McDonnell moved for 

acquittal on the basis that there was insufficient evidence to convict him, and that 

the Hobbs Act and honest services statute were unconstitutionally vague.  Id.  His 

motions were denied, and the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit affirmed 

the convictions on appeal.  Id.  The United States Supreme Court, however, reversed. 

Writing for a unanimous Court, Chief Justice Roberts rejected the 

government’s contention that the definition of “official act” within § 201(a)(3) 

included “any decision or action, on any question or matter, that may at any time be 

pending, or which may by law be brought before any public official, in such 

official’s official capacity.”  Id. at 2367.  Instead, the Court read both “question or 
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matter” and “decision or action” more narrowly. 

The Court rejected the government’s expansive interpretations of “official 

act” because it raised significant constitutional concerns.  Id. at 2372-73 (rejecting 

broad interpretations so that “ordinary people can understand what conduct is 

prohibited” and to discourage “arbitrary and discriminatory enforcement”).  The 

Court also rejected the government’s expansive interpretations of “official act” 

because it raised significant federalism concerns.  Id. (supporting a state’s 

sovereignty to define the structure of its own government and regulate permissible 

scope of interactions between officials and constituents).  The Court declined to 

construe the bribery statute in a manner that was ambiguous and involved “the 

Federal Government in setting standards of good government for local and state 

officials.”  Id. (citing McNally v. United States, 483 U.S. 350, 360 (1987)). 

McDonnell was yet another landmark decision, narrowing the statute and 

raising questions as to prior decisions.  McDonnell took the analysis beyond where 

it had been in Skilling, requiring not only allegations and a finding of a strict quid 

pro quo exchange, but also constricting the definition for the required element of an 

“official act.” 

McDonnell also made clear that a necessary component to be exchanged for a 

thing of value in a bribery arrangement is an (alleged) agreement by the public 

official to be influenced in performing an official act.  Id. at 2371.  While the public 
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official need neither to perform nor even intend to perform an official act, the official 

must, at a minimum, “agree[] to do so.”  Id.  In addition to the necessary allegation 

of an agreement, McDonnell also requires that the indictment language contain 

express allegations of an agreed quid pro quo.  Id. (“It is up to the jury, under the 

facts of the case, to determine whether the public official agreed to perform an 

official act at the time of the alleged quid pro quo.” (emphasis added)).   

D. Kelly v. United States, 140 S. Ct. 1565 (2020) 

And, in 2020, the Supreme Court, yet again narrowed the application of the 

honest services statute.  In Kelly v. United States, 590 U.S. --, 140 S. Ct. 1565 (2020), 

the Supreme Court limited the use of federal criminal fraud statutes to establish a 

standard of good government for state and local governments.   

During former New Jersey Governor Chris Christie’s 2013 reelection 

campaign, his Deputy Chief of Staff, Bridget Anne Kelly, avidly courted Democratic 

New Jersey mayors for their endorsements, but the Borough of Fort Lee’s mayor 

refused to back the Governor’s campaign.  Kelly, 140 S. Ct. at 1569. Determined to 

punish the mayor, Kelly; Port Authority Deputy Executive Director William Baroni; 

and another Port Authority official, David Wildstein, allegedly decided to reduce 

from three to one the number of lanes long reserved at the George Washington 

Bridge’s toll plaza for Fort Lee’s morning commuters.  Id. 

The government alleged that to disguise the efforts at political retribution, 
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Wildstein devised a cover story: The lane realignment was for a traffic study.  Id.  

As part of that cover story, the defendants asked Port Authority traffic engineers to 

collect some numbers about the effect of the changes.  Id. at 1569-70. At the 

suggestion of a Port Authority manager, they also agreed to pay an extra toll collector 

overtime so that Fort Lee’s one remaining lane would not be shut down if the 

collector on duty needed a break.  Id. at 1570.  

The lane realignment caused four days of gridlock in Fort Lee and ended only 

when the Port Authority’s Executive Director learned of the scheme.  Id. at 1569. 

Baroni and Kelly were convicted in federal court of wire fraud, fraud on a federally 

funded program or entity (the Port Authority), and conspiracy to commit each of 

those crimes.  On appeal, the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Third Circuit affirmed, 

United States v. Baroni, 909 F.3d 550, 560-79 (3d Cir. 2018), and the Supreme Court 

granted certiorari to review the decision, Kelly v. United States, 588 U.S. --, 139 S. 

Ct. 2777 (2019). 

Since no bribes were given or alleged in Kelly, the government advanced two 

theories claiming that the defendants deprived the Port Authority, which operated 

the bridge, of property and money.  Kelly, 140 S. Ct. at 1571.  The government’s 

first theory was that the actual lanes of traffic that had before been allocated to Fort 

Lee traffic were “property,” which it was the defendants’ goal to “obtain.”  The 

Supreme Court, however, saw that as “a quintessential exercise of regulatory power” 
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which, as the Court held in Cleveland v. United States, 531 U.S. 12 (2000), is not 

property, stating, “The State’s ‘intangible rights of allocation, exclusion, and 

control’—its prerogatives over who should get a benefit and who should not—do 

‘not create a property interest.’ ”  Kelly, 140 S. Ct. at 1572.  The Court held that 

because the scheme did not deprive the Port of Authority of property, it did not 

violate the honest services statute.  Id. at 1571-74. 

The government’s second theory fared no better, but for a different reason. 

The government argued that the scheme required expenditure of Port Authority 

resources—extra toll booth attendants and traffic engineers who were directed to 

create a sham “traffic study” to provide an ostensible reason for the altered traffic 

pattern.  Id. at 1572.  While the Court agreed that obtaining the services of employees 

of the agency could constitute fraud, where obtaining the services itself is the goal 

of the scheme, as in this case, neither requiring extra toll takers nor the engineers’ 

traffic-study labors was the goal of the scheme or even contemplated.  Id. at 1574. 

They were “byproducts” of the scheme, whose object was political payback.  Id.  

 The Court overturned the convictions, concluding as it had in previous cases 

that federal regulation of state corruption was not, and should not be, all-

encompassing, effectively creating a federal standard of “good government” for 

states.  Id. (quoting McNally, 483 U.S. at 360) (“To rule otherwise would undercut 

this Court’s oft-repeated instruction:  Federal prosecutors may not use property fraud 
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statutes to ‘set[ ] standards of disclosure and good government for local and state 

officials.” (alteration in original)).  The regulatory responsibility belongs to the 

states. 

IV. Dismissal of Counts 3, 4, and 5 is appropriate. 

To sustain charges for honest services fraud, the allegations must be consistent 

with the Supreme Court’s requirements in McDonnell, Skilling, and Kelly.  Here, the 

allegations in Counts 3, 4, and 5 of the Superseding Indictment are legally 

insufficient to charge a violation of the honest services statute against Finch and 

should be dismissed.  The government fails to allege an agreement and a quid pro 

quo between Barnes and Finch.  Further, the government’s allegations raise 

significant federalism concerns. 

A. The Superseding Indictment does not allege any “agreement” 

between Barnes and Finch. 

The government has failed to meet the McDonnell requirements of alleging a 

bribery agreement that involved Finch.  See McDonnell, 134 S. Ct. at 2371 

(clarifying that the necessary component to be exchanged for a thing of value in a 

bribery arrangement is a public official’s agreement to be influenced in performing 

an official act).  Such an allegation is legally critical. 

This Court recently reviewed the limitations of the honest services statute, 

addressing a similar issue and argument.  See United States v. Maddox, Case No. 

4:18-CR-76 (N.D. Fla. Mar. 26, 2019) (Walker, J.), ECF No. 38. (holding that the 
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allegations of a public official’s agreement to be influenced was a necessary 

component in an indictment for honest services fraud.)  The motion to dismiss in 

Maddox was denied because the government was able to identify numerous 

allegations of agreements made by the public official to be influenced in 

performance of his official acts in exchange for bribes.  Id. at 6; see also United 

States v. Maddox, Case No. 4:18-CR-76 (N.D. Fla. Mar. 11, 2019), Gov’t Opp. to 

Def. Maddox’s First Mot. to Dismiss, ECF No. 37.4 

However, unlike the Indictment in Maddox, a careful reading of the 

allegations related to Counts 3, 4, and 5 reveals that the government has not 

sufficiently alleged that Barnes entered into any illegal “agreement” with Finch.  

Unlike in Maddox, there are no allegations that Barnes demanded money and bribes 

with an intent to be influenced.  And unlike in Maddox, there are no allegations of a 

meeting between Barnes and Finch, nor is there an allegation that Barnes or Finch 

 
4 In Maddox, the government was able to identify several paragraphs of the 

indictment containing allegations that the defendant: 

 

(1) demanded money and bribes with the intent to be influenced in the performance 

of official acts; 

(2) directed co-conspirators to meet with and solicit payments in exchange for votes; 

(3) continued to solicit and accept payments in exchange for an agreement to engage 

in official acts; and 

(4) held meetings to confirm that payment should be made in exchange for an 

agreement to perform official acts. 

 

Id. at 11-12.  
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directed any representatives to meet on their behalf to solicit or make payments in 

exchange for an official act.  This all-important language is missing.  It is a difference 

with a critical legal distinction.   

Stated succinctly, the government authored a charging document that is 

legally flawed.  Counts 3, 4, and 5 are insufficiently pled and should be dismissed.  

B. The Superseding Indictment does not allege any quid pro quo. 

A quid pro quo is an essential element for an honest services bribery charge.  

United States v. Bruno, 661 F.3d 733, 743 (2d Cir. 2011) (citing United States v. 

Ganim, 510 F.3d 134, 143 (2d Cir. 2007) (Sotomayor, J.) (explaining that when the 

thing of value is not a campaign contribution, a quid pro quo is still required)) 

(holding a quid pro quo to be “an essential element” of honest services fraud when 

prosecutors base the charge on bribery).  Indeed, McDonnell requires an honest 

services fraud charge to allege that the public official “agreed to perform an official 

act at the time of the alleged quid pro quo.”  McDonnell, 134 S. Ct. at 2371 

(emphasis added) 

Again, in Maddox, this Court addressed the issue of sufficiently alleging a 

quid pro quo for an official act but denied the defendant’s motion to dismiss.  

Maddox, Case No. 4:18-CR-76 (N.D. Fla. Mar. 26, 2019), ECF No. 38.  However, 

there are material distinctions from Maddox that justify a different outcome here.   

In Maddox, the defendant argued that the honest services fraud counts were 
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insufficient because the Indictment did not allege quid pro quo promises to perform 

specific official acts.  The government, however, took the position that it was not 

required to identify a specific official act at the time the corrupt agreement was made.  

In support, the government cited to Ganim, 510 F.3d 134, which predates Skilling 

and McDonnell.  In denying the defendant’s motion, the Court agreed with the 

government’s position that “a specific official act need not be identified” by the 

parties at the time the corrupt agreement is made, but still required the necessary 

allegations for honest services bribery – a quid pro quo agreement.  Maddox, Case 

No. 4:18-CR-76 (N.D. Fla. Mar. 26, 2019), ECF No. 38 at 4-6.   

Although an honest services bribery charge does not require an agreement to 

perform a specific official act, the government is required to identify and allege an 

agreement by Barnes to act on a focused or concrete “question or matter.”  United 

States v. Silver, 948 F.3d 538, 556 (2nd Cir. 2020) (“[F]or an official to promise to 

perform an official act—and thereby engage in the prohibited quid pro quo—the 

official must promise to act on an identified “question, matter, cause, suit 

proceeding, or controversy” at the time of the promise.”); see also McDonnell, 134 

S. Ct. at 2369-70, 2372 (Bribery requires that an official accept a payment, knowing 

that he is expecting to use his office to influence a “focused,” “concrete,” and 

“specific” question of matter that “may be understood to refer to a former exercise 

of governmental power.”).  The question or matter needs to be “focused,” 
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“concrete,” or “specific” enough to satisfy the quid pro quo requirement—the 

official needs to promise to do something about a question or matter that “may be 

understood to refer to a formal exercise of governmental power.” Id. at 2369.  

However, a promise to perform some act or to “benefit the payor” without more 

cannot be understood to refer to a “formal exercise of governmental power that is 

similar in nature to a “cause, suit, proceeding or controversy.”  Id. at 2369.  Indeed, 

“such a promise is so lacking in definition or specificity that it amounts to no 

promise at all.”  Silver, 948 F.3d at 557.  Without a promise or agreement, there is 

no quid pro quo.  

Here, the government has not sufficiently identified a quid pro quo agreement 

between Barnes and Finch in any of the factual allegations.  It is another deficiency 

that has critical legal implications on the charging document.  Unlike in Maddox, 

here the government has merely alleged a generic “benefit” and “official act,” but 

omitted a critical and essential allegation—an agreement and intent to influence.  

Therefore, the government has failed to allege an essential element of honest 

services fraud, and Counts 3, 4, and 5 must be dismissed.   

C. The honest services charges raise serious federalism concerns. 

Once more, the federal charge for “honest services” fraud raises the problem 

of federal intrusion into state and local government.  Notably, in the Superseding 

Indictment there is no citation, incorporation, or reference to a federal bribery 
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charge.5  Even if we could agree to define honest services fraud based on “bribes 

and kickback” with reference to the federal bribery statute, 18 U.S.C. § 201, Counts 

3, 4, and 5 would still be subject to dismissal for failing to allege a quid pro quo.6  

See United States v. Sun-Diamond Growers of California, 523 U.S. 398, 404 (1999) 

(concluding that “for bribery there must be a quid pro quo—a specific intent to give 

or receive something of value in exchange for an official act”). 

Here, a single paragraph of the Superseding Indictment merely alleges that 

Barnes moved, seconded, and voted on matters before the Lynn Haven City 

Commission favorable to Finch’s business interests and that Finch provided Barnes 

with a series of small, flexible loans over several years.  ECF No. 64  ¶ 85.  But, 

§ 201 bribery “requires intent ‘to influence’ an official act or ‘to be influenced’ in 

an official act.” Sun-Diamond, 523 U.S. at 404.  Even if we could agree to define an 

 
5 In Skilling, the Supreme Court noted that 18 U.S.C. § 201, the “principal federal 

bribery statute,” applies only to federal public officials. Skilling, 561 U.S. at 413 

n.45.  Of course, no federal public officials are alleged to be involved in this case.  

Likewise, though 18 U.S.C. § 666 criminalizes bribery of state and local officials, 

that statute contains certain jurisdictional and monetary-value requirements.  See 18 

U.S.C. §§ 666(a)(1)(B), (b) (requiring that a “thing of value of $5,000 or more” be 

involved and that the state or local government at issue receive federal benefits in 

excess of $10,000 in any one-year period).  The government has not charged either 

Finch or Barnes with a violation of 18 U.S.C. § 666.  

 
6 18 U.S.C. § 201(b) makes it a crime for a public official or person selected to be a 

public official to corruptly demand, seek, receive, accept, or agree to receive or 

accept anything of value in return for being influenced in the performance of any 

official act. 
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honest services bribery fraud based on § 201(b), the government has failed to allege 

any specific allegation that Finch intended to influence an official act of Barnes and 

that Barnes in fact agreed.  That failure is fatal to the charges as they pertain to Finch.  

V. Conclusion 

As pled by the government, an honest services theory requires an allegation of 

bribery; bribery, at minimum, requires an allegation of an agreement, a quid pro quo, 

and an intent to influence an official act.  Here, no specific, sufficient allegations are 

made against Finch.  We respectfully suggest that the deficiency exists because of a 

lack of proof.  Wholesale incorporation of facts by reference cannot overcome this 

critical requirement that the charging document must contain the precise elements 

of the offense.  Because the Superseding Indictment fails to allege an agreement, a 

quid pro quo, and an intent to influence an official act, Counts 3, 4, and 5 are fatally 

flawed.  They must be dismissed. 

VI. Alternatively, the Court should order the government to file a bill of 

particulars. 

 

Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 7(c) states that an indictment “must be a 

plain, concise, and definite written statement of the essential facts constituting the 

offense charged . . . .”  Rule 7(f), in turn, provides that “[t]he court may direct the 

government to file a bill of particulars.”  The purpose of Rule 7, as amended in 1966, 

is “to encourage a more liberal attitude by the courts toward bills of particular.”  Fed. 

R. Crim. P. 7 advisory committee’s note to 1966 amendment. 
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A bill of particulars, properly viewed, supplements an indictment by 

providing the defendant with information necessary for trial preparation. United 

States v. Anderson, 799 F.2d 1438, 1441 (11th Cir. 1986).  As detailed above, the 

Superseding Indictment is deficient because it fails to provide sufficient detail or 

connections between the alleged “benefits” and “official acts” taken by Barnes.  

Without this information, Finch is unable identify potential witnesses7 with 

knowledge of the alleged benefits or official acts or of exculpatory evidence.   

Without these details, Finch is unable to adequately prepare his defenses and 

is at risk of prejudicial surprise at trial.  Accordingly, Finch respectfully request that 

the government be ordered to identify: (1) the alleged benefits provided to Barnes, 

(2) the official acts taken by Barnes, and (3) which official act(s) were the object of 

the recited benefits and things of value at the time of the quid pro quo.  Additionally, 

the government should be ordered to identify all known “others” and “conspirators” 

who would testify as to the allegations supporting Counts 3, 4, and 5.  

 
7 Throughout the Superseding Indictment, the government references “others,” 

“other persons,” “other companies,” and unindicted “conspirators.”  ECF No. 64 

¶¶ 23, 24, 25, 26, 30, 44, 59, 125.  The former Fifth Circuit stated, “[a] bill of 

particulars is a proper procedure for discovering the names of unindicted 

coconspirators who the government plans to use as witnesses.” United States v. 

Barrentine, 591 F.2d 1069, 1077 (5th Cir. 1979). Accordingly, to the extent the 

government is going to call the known “others” or “conspirators” who purportedly 

participated in or have knowledge of the alleged bribery between Finch and Barnes, 

the Court should order the government to provide the identity of these persons to 

allow the defendants to prepare for trial and to avoid prejudicial surprise. 

Case 5:20-cr-00028-MW-MJF   Document 131   Filed 05/26/21   Page 22 of 25



Case No. 5:20-CR-28-MW/MJF 

23 

VII. Relief Requested 

WHEREFORE, Defendant James D. Finch respectfully requests that this 

Court dismiss Counts 3, 4, and 5 of the Superseding Indictment on the grounds raised 

herein or, alternatively, this Court should order the government to file a detailed Bill 

of Particulars, pursuant to Rule 7(f), identifying (1) the alleged benefits provided to 

Defendant Barnes, (2) the official acts taken by Defendant Barnes, (3) which official 

act(s) were the object of the recited benefits and things of value at the time of the 

quid pro quo, and (4) all “others” and “conspirators” who would testify as to the 

allegations supporting Counts 3, 4, and 5. 
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LOCAL RULE 7.1(F) CERTIFICATION 

Pursuant to Local Rule 7.1(F), the undersigned certifies that this motion 

contains 5,733 words pursuant to the word count provided by Microsoft Word. 

 

LOCAL RULE 7.1(K) REQUEST FOR HEARING 

Pursuant to Local Rule 7.1(K), Defendant James D. Finch respectfully 

requests that the Court set this matter for hearing because oral argument would assist 

the Court in resolving the issues raised in this Motion to Dismiss.  The undersigned 

estimates that the defense would need approximately 30 minutes for argument.   

 

Respectfully submitted, 

 

 /s/ Guy A. Lewis 

Guy A. Lewis  

Florida Bar No. 623740 

Jeffrey M. Forman 

Florida Bar No. 105135 

The Law Offices of Guy A. Lewis PLLC 

12575 SW 67th Avenue 

Pinecrest, Florida 33156 

954-688-6340 

glewis@lewistein.com 

jforman@lewistein.com 

 

Counsel for Defendant,  

James D. Finch 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I HEREBY CERTIFY that on May 26, 2021, I electronically filed the 

foregoing document with the Clerk of the Court using CM/ECF and that a true and 

correct copy of the foregoing has been served electronically via the CM/ECF System 

on all counsel of record. 

 

/s/ Guy A. Lewis 

GUY A. LEWIS 
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